NO. 45129-8-Π

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

TROY ALLEN FISHER,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

1. Assignment of Error
	2. Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. Factual History
	2. Procedural History
D.	ARGUMENT
	I. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS WHEN IT FOUND HIM GUILTY OF FIRST AND SECOND DEGREE MURDER BECAUSE NO EVIDENCE INDEPENDENT OF THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS ESTABLISHES THE EXISTENCE OF THE ELEMENTS OF THOSE OFFENSES
	II. THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO ORDER STAND- BY COUNSEL TO TAKE OVER THE DEFENSE DURING TRIAL UPON THE DEFENDANT'S REQUEST DENIED THE DEFENDANT HIS STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO COUNSEL
	III. THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO ORDER A COMPETENCY EVALUATION AFTER STAND-BY COUNSEL FILED AN AFFIDAVIT PUTTING DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCY IN QUESTION DENIED THE DEFENDANT HIS STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS 27

	IV. THE TRIAL COURT DENIED THE DEFENDANT HIS STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS WHEN IT FOUND HIM GUILTY OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER BECAUSE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE CONCLUSION THAT THE DEFENDANT KILLED WITH PREMEDITATION OR THE INTENT TO COMMIT ROBBERY
E.	CONCLUSION
F.	APPENDIX
	1. Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3
	2. Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22
	3. United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment
	4. United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment
	5. RCW 9.94A.535(3)(a)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page		
Federal Cases		
<i>Drope v. Missouri</i> , 420 U.S. 162, 95 S.Ct. 896, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975)		
Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975)		
Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 113 S.Ct. 2680, 125 L.Ed.2d 321 (1993) 28, 29		
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970) 17, 31		
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)		
Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938)		
Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 86 S.Ct. 836, 15 L.Ed.2d 815 (1966)		
<i>Thomas v. Cunningham</i> , 313 F.2d 934 (4 th Cir. 1963)		
Youtsey v. United States, 97 F. 937 (CA6 1899)		
State Cases		
Bremerton v. Corbett, 106 Wn.2d 569, 723 P.2d 1135 (1986) 18, 19		
State v. Anderson, 96 Wn.2d 739, 638 P.2d 1205 (1982)		
State v. Ashurst, 45 Wn.App. 48, 723 P.2d 1189 (1986)		

State v. Baeza, 100 Wn.2d 487, 670 P.2d 646 (1983)			
State v. Bebb, 108 Wn.2d 515, 740 P.2d 829 (1987)			
State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 816 P.2d 1 (1991)			
State v. Dow, 168 Wn.2d 243, 227 P.3d 1278 (2010)			
State v. Erickson, 108 Wn.App. 732, 33 P.3d 85 (2001)			
State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)			
State v. Hamrick, 19 Wn.App. 417, 576 P.2d 912 (1978)			
State v. Marshall, 144 Wn.2d 266, 27 P.3d 192 (2001)			
State v. McDonald, 143 Wn.2d 506, 22 P.3d 791 (2001)			
State v. Moore, 7 Wn.App. 1, 499 P.2d 16 (1972)			
State v. Munson, 7 Wash. 239, 34 P. 932 (1893)			
State v. Ray, 130 Wn.2d 673, 926 P.2d 904 (1996)			
State v. Ross, 71 Wn.App. 556, 861 P.2d 473 (1993)			
State v. Taplin, 9 Wn.App. 545, 513 P.2d 549 (1973)			
State v. Wood, 57 Wn.App. 792, 790 P.2d 220 (1990)			
Constitutional Provisions			
Constitutional Provisions			
Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3			
Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22			
United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment			
United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment			

Statutes and Court Rules

RCW 9A.32.03022
RCW 9A.56.19023
RCW 9.94A.58533
RCW 10.58.035
RCW 10.77.084
Other Authorities
4 W. Blackstone, Commentaries, 24
Foote, A Comment on Pre-Trial Commitment of Criminal Defendants, 108 U.Pa.L.Rev. 832, 834, 904 (1960)
Note, <i>Incompetency to Stand Trial</i> , 81 Harv.L.Rev. 455, 457-459 (1967)

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

- 1. The trial court violated the defendant's state and federal constitutional rights to due process when it found him guilty of first and second degree murder because no evidence independent of the defendant's statements establishes the existence of the elements of those offenses.
- 2. The trial court's failure to order stand-by counsel to take over the defense during trial upon the defendant's request denied the defendant his state and federal constitutional rights to counsel.
- 3. The trial court's failure to order a competency evaluation after stand-by counsel filed an affidavit putting defendant's competency in question denied the defendant his state and federal constitutional rights to due process.
- 4. The trial court denied the defendant his state and federal constitutional rights to due process when it found him guilty of first degree murder because substantial evidence does not support the conclusion that the defendant killed with premeditation or the intent to commit robbery.
- 5. Substantial evidence does not support the trial court's finding that the defendant acted with an egregious lack of remorse.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. The trial court violated the defendant's state and federal constitutional rights to due process when it found him guilty of first and second degree murder because no evidence independent of the defendant's statements establishes the existence of the elements of those offenses.
- 2. The trial court's failure to order stand-by counsel to take over the defense during trial upon the defendant's request denied the defendant his state and federal constitutional rights to counsel.
- 3. The trial court's failure to order a competency evaluation after stand-by counsel filed an affidavit putting defendant's competency in question denied the defendant his state and federal constitutional rights to due process.
- 4. The trial court denied the defendant his state and federal constitutional rights to due process when it found him guilty of first degree murder because substantial evidence does not support the conclusion that the defendant killed with premeditation or the intent to commit robbery.
- 5. Substantial evidence does not support the trial court's finding that the defendant acted with an egregious lack of remorse.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

On August 7, 2011, at 7:32 pm Edward Fisher, a self-employed forklift mechanic, made a purchase of paint and another item the Home Depot in Vancouver, Washington. RP 869-874¹. The transaction was caught on the store's security video. Id. This was the last time anyone saw him. RP 355-357, 370-373, 424-427, 437, 483-485, 508-510, 560-593. During the next few weeks a number of family members attempted to contact him, including his sister, a daughter, a number of friends, and an acquaintance from whom he rented shop space. *Id*. No one was able to find him at home and he did not answer repeated messages left on his cell phone, which was highly unusual. Id. Neither did he pay his rent for his shop space, which had never happened before. RP 441-442. According to his bank someone had extensively accessed his accounts after that date. RP 885-910. This person was his son Troy Fisher, who withdrew money and made charges even though he was not a signatory on the accounts and had no permission to do so. RP 683-694, 697, 888-889.

In fact, Mr. Fisher was not in good health. RP, 374-375, 440-441, 443, 511. He had diabetes, high blood pressure, had suffered from prostate

¹The record on appeal includes nine volumes of continuously numbered verbatim reports referred to herein as "RP [page #]."

cancer and four months earlier he had suffered a severe broken leg in a work accident that left him with a metal rod in his leg and partially immobile for a number of months. RP 374-375, 443-445, 511, 513-514. He had originally used a wheel chair, then used a walker, and eventually walked with a cane. RP 367-370, 381-383, 432, 470-473, 503-504. During this time he also suffered from depression. RP 374-375, 440-441. He lived in a double wide mobile home in rural Clark County as a bachelor for many years, and his house was very dirty and cluttered, as was his surrounding acreage. RP 546-548, 566-567. Upon inspection none of his personal items were found missing such as his toothbrush. RP 764-765, 1006.

Bud Fisher's adult son defendant Troy Fisher moved into Bud's home after Troy's very acrimonious divorce. RP 376, 452, 803, 839. During this period of time the defendant worked with his father in his business, although there was a great deal of friction between them about work. RP 485-486. 491, 804. The defendant also worked around the house at his father's request and there were bad feelings between the two of them about this also. RP 804, 839-841. On a number of occasions the defendant's three minor children would stay with him and his father as was allowed under his parenting plan. RP 809-811, 852, 922. Although none of the children remember their grandfather indicating that he was going anywhere or that he had a girlfriend, they all remembered him talking about previously living in Germany while

enlisted in the Air Force. 856, 864.

Perhaps most unusual of all about Ed Fisher's disappearance was the fact that he routinely visited his mother in a local assisted living center, took her to her various medical and dental appointments, and was responsible for taking care of her finances. RP 374-375, 437, 525-527. Prior to August 7th he had not indicated to his mother or her care providers at the assisted living center that he would be gone and he made no provisions for someone else to take care of her finances. *Id.* Neither had he told any of his family members, his friends, his business acquaintances, or the employees at his bank that he would be leaving either temporarily or permanently. RP 359-361, 370-373, 470-473. Indeed, he rarely if ever took vacations. RP 370-373. Rather, he spent all of his time involved in his business. *Id.*

Within a few weeks family members and friends called the police, who began a missing person investigation. RP 508-510, 780. This investigation included interviews with family members, friends, and business acquaintances, as wells as visits to Mr. Fisher's home and shop. RP 525-528, 564-579, 590-596. Eventually the police obtained a number of search warrants, including one for Mr. Fisher's home. RP 556, 590-593, 1154. On the day they executed that warrant they found that the carpet from the interior of the home had been ripped out and drug outside, with some of it in one of Mr. Fisher's trucks, which had been backed up to the front door of the

residence. RP 568-569, 597-599. The defendant's children later told the officer that they had helped their father pull out the carpet. RP 812-813, 854. The deputies also found a couple of holes in the sub-floor in the front room. RP 603-604. Suspecting foul play, the detectives search the house for the presence of blood, and they searched the adjoining property for any sign of Mr. Fisher. RP 981-987, 1097-1098, 1109-1110. They found no blood nor any evidence of Mr. Fisher, either alive or dead. *Id*.

The deputies did note that a number of missing pieces had been cut out of the carpet. RP 973. Although they could not find the pieces on Mr. Fisher's property, they eventually found them hidden in blackberry bushes on property owned by a friend of the defendant. 1183-184. A couple of those pieces had blood on them. 1022-1026. Later analysis on the blood matched the DNA with DNA obtained from a toothbrush taken from Mr. Fisher's bathroom. RP 764-769. This DNA did not match DNA obtained from a fluid sample taken from the defendant. *Id*.

In fact, Mr. Fisher's property had two burn piles on it that had been recently used. RP 483-485. One still had trash on it waiting to be burned. RP 556-558, 588-589. Believing that the defendant might have killed his father and disposed of his body by burning it in one of these burn piles, they obtained the assistance of a forensic anthropologist who worked for the King County Medical Examiner's Office. RP 570, 660-671. She minutely

examined the burn piles and ground and came to the conclusion that no body had been burned at either location. RP 660-671. Her conclusions were based upon her examination of the burn locations and her knowledge of what it takes to completely burn a human body. *Id.* In essence, she found no evidence that either burn pile had been hot enough to destroy a body. *Id.* Neither did she find any telltale evidence that a body had been burned on the property. *Id.* At her suggestion the deputies called for a cadaver dog and searched the entire property. RP 667-668. This search also did not uncover any evidence of a dead body. *Id.*

While the deputies were executing the warrant the defendant drove to the bottom of the driveway with one of his son, where he stopped at the request of one of the deputies. RP 551. He then agreed to go with the deputies to give a two hour long recorded statement about what he knew about his father's disappearance. RP 603-606. Initially the defendant told the officers that his father had connected up with a female acquaintance from Germany and he left with her on a yacht bound for Germany. RP 612-690. In fact he had previously told his family members this same story. *Id.* He also told the deputies, as he did family and friends, that his father had left him in charge of his business. *Id.*

Eventually the defendant admitted to the deputies that his father had not left for Germany. RP 720-731, 739-741. Rather, the defendant confessed

that that when he returned home during the evening of August 7th his father confronted him about work around the house that he claimed the defendant had performed incorrectly. *Id.* According to the defendant, during the confrontation his father pulled out a .22 pistol and pointed it at him. *Id.* The defendant then grabbed the pistol and it went off, hitting his father in the head. *Id.* As his father fell to the floor the defendant stated that he shot his father for a second time although he did not know why he did this. *Id.* Realizing his father was dead he just sat and waited for the police to come. *Id.* When they didn't, he drug his father outside, put him on one of the burn piles, and then burned his body. RP 733-735. According to the defendant he did not know whether the first or second shot killed his father. RP 720-721.

Procedural History

By information filed September 30, 2011, and later twice amended, the Clark County Prosecutor charged the defendant Troy Allen Fisher with First Degree Murder under an allegation that he either acted with premeditated intent to kill his father or he killed him during the course or furtherance of the crime of First Degree Robbery. CP 2, 5-6, 637-638. The amended information also alleged four aggravating factors: (1) that the defendant committed the offense while armed with a firearm, (2) that the defendant knew or should have know that the victim was particularly vulnerable, (3) that the defendant abused a position of trust or confidence to

commit the offense, and (4) that the defendant demonstrated or displayed an egregious lack of remorse in the commission of the offense. CP 637-638. The state also charged the defendant with second degree murder in the alternative, alleging that he had intentionally killed his father. *Id.* The alternative charge included the four aggravators alleged in the primary charge. *Id.*

The court initially appointed attorney Gregg Schile to represent the defendant. CP 1. Mr. Schile thereafter filed extensive written pleadings (1) moving to suppress all of the defendant's statements on the basis that he had been illegally detained and that he had invoked his right to counsel prior to making any statements, (2) moving to suppress all of the evidence the officers had obtained during the execution of the many search warrants they had served in the case on the basis that the affidavits given in support of the warrants did not establish probable cause, and (3) moving to dismiss on the basis that the state's evidence did not establish the *corpus delecti* of the crime charged. CP 8-75, 76-223, 231, 235-249, 256, 257-263, 264-286, 291-297.

On April 22, 2012, the parties appeared before the court on the defendant's CrR 3.5 and CrR 3.6 motions. CP 232-234. During the hearing the state called two witnesses: Deputy Todd Barsness and Deputy Kevin Schmidt. RP 2-34, 48-52. These two deputies took the defendant from his father residence to the sheriff's office and performed the interrogation. *Id*.

The defendant then took the stand on his own behalf. RP 34-48. Following this testimony and argument by counsel the court denied each of the motions ruling as follows: (1) that the defendant was not in custody when he gave his statements, that he waived his right to silence and an attorney, and that he never did invoke either right, and (2) that probable cause supported each warrant that was issued. RP 98-107; CP 253-255. At the end of the hearing the defense stated that it would later note the *corpus delecti* motion for hearing. CP 111.

About six months after the original CrR 3.5/3.6 motions the parties appeared in court and the defendant requested the appointment of a different attorney to represent him. CP 303, 304, 305-306. The court granted the motion and appointed Mr. Chuck Buckley to represent the defendant. CP 307. A couple of months later on January 3, 2013, the defendant appeared before the court and demanded the right to represent himself. CP 312; RP 116-129. At the same time Mr. Buckley moved to withdraw as defendant's attorney. CP 314. During the hearing on the defendant's motion the court engaged in a colloquy with the defendant during which it outlined the maximum penalties the defendant was facing along with the difficulties the defendant would face if he appeared *pro se*. CP 116-129. The defendant none the less repeatedly insisted that he be allow to represent himself and the court eventually granted his request. CP 123-146. Once week later the court

ordered Mr. Buckley to continue as standby counsel. CP 150-154.

About six weeks later on February 27, 2013, the parties appeared before the court and both the defendant and Mr. Buckley moved that the court allow Mr. Buckley to withdraw as standby counsel. CP 332-334, 511-517; RP 155-163. The court granted the motion and, at the defendant's request, appointed a third attorney by the name of Bob Yoseph to appear with the defendant as standby counsel. CP 332-334, 504-505, 520-521, 522; RP 155-163. The written order appointing Mr. Yoseph is on a pre-printed form for the appointment of attorneys in Clark County and has "as Stand-by Counsel" written in by the judge. CP 522.

At a subsequent omnibus hearing the defendant orally and in writing moved for permission to reopen the CrR 3.5 and CrR 3.6 motions and call further witnesses, and the state moved for permission to amend the information. RP 176-193. The court granted the request over the state's objection and the second over the defendant's objection. RP 194-211, 212-236. As a result, on April 22, 2013, the day before trial, the parties again appeared before the court on the defendant's CrR 3.5 and CrR. 3.6 hearing. RP 231-340. At that time the defendant called four witnesses. RP 245-280. The parties then presented argument, after which the court reaffirmed its prior rulings denying all requests by the defense. RP 282-299.

The next day, prior to the beginning of trial, the defendant filed a jury

waiver, which the court accepted. CP 672; RP 341-348. The court then called the case for trial. RP 351. Over the next five days the state called 34 witnesses. RP 354-1210. These witnesses testified to the facts contained in the preceding factual history. See Factual History, supra. During the state's case the defendant consulted with his standby counsel on a number of occasions but at all times acted as his own attorney. Id. At 11:26 on the morning of the fourth day of trial the state rested its case. RP 1.211; CP 731. This was on Friday, April 26. *Id.* After the state rested its case the defendant moved for a mistrial, which the court denied. RP 1212-1213. The court then pressed the defendant on whether or not he was going to present an opening statement, which he had reserved at the beginning of the trial. RP 1213. At this point the defendant told the court that he was not capable of going on as his own attorney. RP 1212. As a result the defendant asked the court to have his standby counsel take over his representation. Id. The court first engaged in a colloguy with the defendant's standby counsel, after which it denied the defendant's request. RP 1214. The following quotes this exchange between the court and defendant, and between the court and standby counsel:

JUDGE JOHNSON: Thank you. Please be scated. And I was told we were ready to go ahead, Mr. Fisher?

DEFENDANT: Your Honor, I believe there's a Brady violation here and I believe there's some other issues here and this is -I - I don't think -I don't think I can do this anymore. Uh, I don't think -I can't figure out how to get it all worked out with my attorney and

myself.

JUDGE JOHNSON: Uh-huh.

DEFENDANT: To do the proper procedures and what not and I just –

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