NO. 45129-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

TROY ALLEN FISHER, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.11-1-01616-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK
Prosecuting Attorney
Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney
1013 Franklin Street
PO Box 5000
Vancouver WA 98666-5000
Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

C. ARGUMENT

I. THERE WAS INDEPENDENT EVIDENCE, APART FROM THE DEFENDANT'S CONFESSION, SHOWING THAT BUD FISHER DIED OF HOMICIDAL MEANS.

Fisher claims that the State did not establish the corpus delicti of each element of premeditated murder in the first degree and felony murder in the first degree by robbery in the first degree or attempted robbery in the first degree. Fisher misunderstands the State's burden of production.

Different types of crimes have different showings the State must make in order to establish the corpus delicti of the crime.³ The State agrees with Fisher that the corpus delicti rule is both a rule of sufficiency of the evidence and a rule about the admissibility of evidence (specifically, the statements of the defendant). The State disagrees with Fisher's assumption, which he fails to support with citation to authority, that it must produce corpus delicti for *each element* of the homicide crime. The

³ The showing the State must make in the crimes of possession of a controlled substance with intent to manufacture or driving under the influence, for example, is different than the showing it must make in a homicide. See generally *State v. Whalen*, 131 Wn.App. 58, 126 P.3d 55 (2005); *State v. Hamrick*, 19 Wn.App. 417, 576 P.2d 912 (1978).

Court of Appeals recently reiterated, in *State v. Hummel*, 165 Wn.2d 749, 758-59, 266 P.3d 269 (2012), *review denied*, 176 Wash. 2d 1023, 297 P.3d 708 (2013), the State’s burden of production in a homicide case:

It is also well settled that only two elements are necessary to establish the *corpus delicti* in a homicide case: the fact of death and a causal connection between the death and a criminal act. *State v. Aten*, 130 Wn.2d 640, 927 P.2d 210 (1996); *State v. Lung*, 70 Wn.2d 365, 371, 423 P.2d 72; (1967); *State v. Little*, 57 Wn.2d 516, 521, 358 P.2d 120 (1961); *State v. Richardson*, 197 Wash. 157, 163, 84 P.2d 699 (1938); *State v. Gates*, 28 Wash. 689, 69 P. 385 (1902); *State v. Rooks*, 130 Wn.App. 787, 125 P.3d 192 (2005); *State v. Sellers*, 39 Wn.App. 799, 695 P.2d 1014 (1985).

The independent evidence may be either direct or circumstantial and need not be of such character as would establish the *corpus delicti* beyond a reasonable doubt or even by a preponderance of the evidence. *Aten*, 130 Wash.2d at 656, 927 P.2d 210. It is sufficient if it *prima facie* establishes the *corpus delicti*. *Id.* “*Prima facie*” in the context of the *corpus delicti* rule means “‘evidence of sufficient circumstances which would support a logical and reasonable inference’ of the facts sought to be proved.” *Aten*, 130 Wash.2d at 656, 927 P.2d 210 (quoting *State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wash.2d 782, 796, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995)). There is no requirement that the evidence establish the identity of the perpetrator. *Lung*, 70 Wn.2d at 371, 423 P.2d 72.

Contrary to Fisher’s argument under this assignment of error, the State is not required to demonstrate *corpus* as to each element of the crime. The State need only show the fact of death and a causal connection between the death and a criminal act. The State made these showings.

There is overwhelming evidence, absent the defendant's confession, that Bud Fisher is dead. Witnesses testified that he owned a business and regularly kept in touch with his family and his mother. He was the primary caregiver for his mother. He provided her with money and obtained her medications. Bud was a man who either answered phone calls or returned them promptly. Bud had no passport. His family members never knew him to go on vacation or leave the country. He was never late on his rent for his shop. He was in ill health. He had diabetes and other medical conditions. He needed medication. He had limited mobility due to a recent severe injury to his leg. He has not been seen or heard from since August 7, 2011. There is no evidence that Bud Fisher has accessed his financial accounts since August 7, 2011. CP 819-820. There is no question that Bud Fisher is dead.

There is also no question that there is a causal connection between Bud's death and a criminal act. Bud's blood was found in large stains on a carpet found in the woods that came from his home. Wooden sub-flooring had also been removed from the home, leading to an inference that blood soaked through the carpet and into the sub-floor. The disposal of the carpet in the woods demonstrated an effort by the perpetrator to conceal the crime. Following his disappearance, Bud's financial accounts were accessed by his son. The first transaction by Troy Fisher, which is

provable absent his confession, occurred less than two hours after the final transaction made by Bud. The police found Bud's identification and financial cards in his home (CP 821), leading to the conclusion that he did not leave his home voluntarily.

The State established the corpus delicti for the crimes of premeditated murder in the first degree and felony murder in the first degree.

II. FISHER HAD NO CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO THE REAPPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL ON DEMAND AFTER HE UNEQUIVOCALLY WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

Fisher claims he was denied his right to counsel when the trial court did not order Mr. Yoseph to take over the case when Fisher changed his mind about self-representation. As Fisher's claim is premised on the idea that he had a constitutional right to force the trial court to reappoint counsel after the State rested its case, it fails.

A review of the facts is warranted here. Fisher was provided with counsel on September 20, 2011. RP 1217. His lawyer was Gregg Schile. Id. Mr. Schile represented Fisher for over a year and made motions to suppress which were accompanied by extensive briefing. Id. Several hearings were held on the motions. Id. Nevertheless, Fisher was unsatisfied and asked for new counsel. Id. The trial court allowed Mr.

Schile to withdraw and appointed Charles Buckley, a criminal defense attorney with thirty-four years of experience. RP 1218, 126. Mr. Fisher, convinced he was smarter than Mr. Buckley, asked to have him removed as counsel and demanded to represent himself. RP 118-20. After an exhaustive colloquy, in which the trial court informed Fisher that he was a fool to want to represent himself and that he would be held to the standard of an attorney, Fisher unequivocally insisted on self-representation. RP 122-150. The court granted the motion. RP 150. Fisher agrees the *Faretta* colloquy was adequate because he does not challenge it in this appeal. After his request to represent himself was granted, Fisher asked that Mr. Buckley be appointed as stand-by counsel. RP 147. The court made it clear to Fisher that stand-by counsel would be available to merely assist him, not represent him. 151-52. On the fifth day of trial, after the State had called 29 witnesses, many of whom were flown in from outside the state, Fisher decided that being a lawyer is difficult and asked to have Mr. Yoseph “take over.” RP 1213. The trial court rejected the motion as untimely. RP 1217. Specifically, the court noted the history outlined above and observed that Fisher would be unhappy no matter who was representing him. RP 1217-1221. This observation was well supported by the record. Indeed, the record supports the inference that Fisher made the

motion for the purposes of delay, obstruction, and injecting error for appeal.

A defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to represent himself. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975); *State v. DeWeese*, 117 Wn.2d 369, 375, 816 P.2d 1 (1991). “Once an unequivocal waiver of counsel has been made, the defendant may not later demand the assistance of counsel as a matter of right since reappointment is wholly within the discretion of the trial court.” *DeWeese*, supra, at 376-77; see also *State v. Silva*, 107 Wn.App. 605, 626-27, 27 P.3d 663 (2001). A defendant does not have a constitutional right to stand-by counsel, and has no constitutional right to hybrid representation “wherein a defendant serves as co-counsel with his attorney.” *Silva* at 626.

Fisher complains that he was denied his right to counsel, but this claim fails at the outset because following his unequivocal and proper waiver of counsel, he cannot demand the assistance of stand-by counsel as a matter of right. Re-appointment of counsel is within the sole discretion of the trial court, and the trial court found the request untimely and disingenuous. Fisher does not argue that Judge Johnson was incorrect in her assessment or in her finding that the request was untimely.

Instead, Fisher claims that a defendant actually *does* have the constitutional right to reappointment of counsel on demand following an

unequivocal waiver of counsel. He bases this claim exclusively on *State v. McDonald*, 143 Wn.2d 506, 22 P.3d 791 (2001). But *McDonald* is inapposite. In *McDonald*, the issue before the Court was whether, in the event the trial court appoints stand-by counsel, stand-by counsel must not have a conflict of interest. *McDonald* at 510. The Supreme Court held that stand-by counsel must be conflict-free, because a conflict burdened attorney would not be available to resume representation, in the event representation became *necessary*. *McDonald* at 514 (“The representation of Gaer by the prosecutor’s office undermines the duties Gaer owed to McDonald, including the attorney-client privilege.”) The issue before the Court was not whether there is now, in Washington, a state-based constitutional right to have counsel reappointed on demand. There is not.

The *McDonald* Court attempted to clarify the role to be played by stand-by counsel and remarked:

A defendant possesses a right to have conflict-free standby counsel because standby counsel must be (1) candid and forthcoming in providing technical information/advice, (2) able to fully represent the accused on a moment's notice, in the event termination of the defendant's self-representation is necessary, and (3) able to maintain attorney-client privilege.

McDonald at 512-13.

Notably, the language “fully represent the accused on a moment’s notice” appears for the first time in *McDonald* and no citation to authority

is given for the remark. Prior to *McDonald*, the Supreme Court said this about stand-by counsel:

Standby counsel's role is not to represent the defendant, however, but to provide technical information, and “to be *available* to represent the accused in the event that termination of the defendant's self-representation is necessary.” *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 834 n. 46, 95 S.Ct. at 2541 n. 46.

State v. Bebb, 108 Wn. 2d 515, 525, 740 P.2d 829 (1987) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals repeated the “available to represent the accused in the event that termination of the defendant’s self-representation is necessary” language in *State v. Silva*, *supra*, at 676-77.

The language from *McDonald* relied on by Fisher is contrary to earlier pronouncements of the duties of stand-by counsel and is *gratis dictum*. Not only does *McDonald* not hold that a defendant has the constitutional right to demand the reappointment of counsel at any time (which would have required *McDonald* to overrule *State v. DeWeese*, *supra*), it does not hold that the trial court cannot limit the duties of stand-by counsel. In both *State v. Silva*, *supra*, and *State v. Pugh*, the Court of Appeals recognized that the trial court may limit the tasks which stand-by counsel is required to provide. *Silva* at 630, *State v. Pugh*, 153 Wn.App. 569, 581, 222 P.3d 821 (2009).

Even if *McDonald* stands for the proposition that Mr. Yoseph needed to be ready to take over the defense in a murder trial on a moment's notice, that duty was only triggered if it was *necessary* to abandon self-representation. But as the trial court noted, it was not necessary. Mr. Fisher was not incompetent to continue representing himself. He was playing games. He had been both aggressive and successful in lodging objections, and had a clear idea of who he wanted to call as witnesses and the information he sought to glean from them. Assuming that Fisher was not merely playing games and seeking delay, then he had merely decided he was not a very good lawyer. But as *Faretta* makes clear, considerations of the defendant's "skill and judgment" as an advocate are not permissible. *State v. Hahn*, 106 Wn.2d 885, 890, n.2, 726 P.2d 25 (1986).

The trial court in this case did not err in rejecting Fisher's request to withdraw his waiver of counsel and have counsel appointed. As noted above, Fisher was clearly trying to inject irregularity into the proceedings. This is evident by the following statement made by Fisher when, after the trial court rejected his untimely attempt to have counsel appointed, he asked for a recess until the following Monday to confer with Mr. Yoseph:

To allow Mr. Yoseph to spend some more time with me so we can finalize our decision on what would be the best way to proceed at this moment. And whether he take over or I

declare incompetent, as in to continue on today. (Addresses Mr. Yoseph.) Is that right?

RP 1223.

Fisher had obviously been told by the very experienced Mr. Yoseph to inject incompetency into the proceedings, despite there being no evidence that Fisher was incompetent in any respect.

The trial court did not err, Fisher did not have a constitutional right to reappointment of counsel, and this claim fails.

III. FISHER'S COMPETENCY TO STAND TRIAL WAS NOT CALLED INTO QUESTION NOR RAISED BY STAND-BY COUNSEL.

Fisher claims that stand-by counsel raised a claim that he was incompetent to stand trial. Fisher misunderstands the record. Stand-by counsel, without the permission of Fisher, asked the trial court to declare a mistrial, claiming that he was not competent to represent himself--not that he was incompetent to stand trial. See CP 680-83 (Mr. Yoseph's motion for mistrial). As the discussion below clarifies, competence to represent oneself in a criminal proceedings is a different question than competence to stand trial. Because Fisher's entire argument in this assignment of error, and the cases on which he relies, is premised on the mistaken idea that Fisher's competence to stand trial was questioned, his claim fails.

“Trial judges have permissive authority to deny self- representation to those suffering from mental illness.” *State v. Lawrence*, 166 Wn.App. 378, 389, 271 P.3d 280, *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1009, 281 P.3d 686 (2012); *In re Rhome*, 172 Wn.2d 654, 667, 260 P.3d 874 (2011). The “inquiry into a defendant’s mental health status is different from an inquiry into his skill and judgment to act as his own lawyer.” *Rhome* at 669. The presumption against waiver of the right to counsel “does not give the court carte blanche to deny a motion to proceed pro se.” *State v. Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d 496, 504-05, 229 P.3d 714 (2010).

The grounds that allow a court to deny a defendant the right to self-representation are limited to a finding that the defendant's request is equivocal, untimely, involuntary, or made without a general understanding of the consequences. Such a finding must be based on some identifiable fact; the presumption in [*In re Det. of*] *Turay* does not go so far as to eliminate the need for any basis for denying a motion for pro se status. Were it otherwise, the presumption could make the right itself illusory.

Lawrence at 390.

In *Indiana v. Edwards*, 554 U.S. 164, 174, 178, 128 S.Ct. 2379 (2008), the United States Supreme Court ruled that state judges were permitted to deny a defendant self-representation if it concluded that a defendant who was competent to stand trial was nevertheless not capable of representing himself. The opinion did not, however, mandate an inquiry

into a defendant's mental health status each time a waiver of counsel is sought.

As noted above, Mr. Yoseph's suggestion that Fisher was incompetent was limited to claiming that he was incompetent *to represent himself*. Yoseph stated in his declaration he questioned "whether or not [Fisher] is competent to represent himself in this case *pro se*." CP 681. Yoseph goes on to question whether the *Faretta* colloquy was adequate (a point not raised in this appeal) even though he was not present for it, and complains that Fisher had not consulted him on strategy or on the decision whether to waive his right to a jury trial. CP 681-82. Yoseph goes on to complain that Fisher was only using him for technical assistance. *Id.* Notably, Fisher objected to Yoseph's motion and stated his desire to proceed. RP 1249. At that point, the trial court should have declined to even consider the motion or allow Yoseph to argue it, because it was not Mr. Yoseph's role to interfere with a significant tactical decision such as this. *McKaskle v. Wiggins*, 465 U.S. 168, 178, 104 S.Ct. 944 (1984). As explained in *State v. Silva*, *supra*:

The American Bar Association has defined the role of standby counsel as follows:

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